HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD
REGULAR MEETING

September 14,2017

7:00 P.M.
CITY HALL, HEARING ROOM #1
ONE FRANK H. OGAWA PLAZA

OAKLAND, CA
AGENDA e
Lo
CALL TO ORDER . o
ROLL CALL | m
14
CONSENT ITEMS -
i. Approval of minutes, August 10,2017
OPEN FORUM
NEW BUSINESS
i. Appeal Hearing in cases:

a. L15-0065; CNML Crescent Props, LLC v. Tenants
b. L15-0016; Nand LLC v. Tenants

ii. Discussion and Possible Action on Regulations for the Tenant Protection
Ordinance Clarifying Terms “Bad Faith” and “Pattern and Practice”

SCHEDULING AND REPORTS
1. Board Panel Minutes available for the following dates:

July 6, 2017
July 20, 2017
July 27, 2017
August 17,2017
August 24, 2017

ADJOURNMENT



Accessibility. The meeting is held in a wheelchair accessible facility. Contact the office of the
City Clerk, City Hall, One Frank Ogawa Plaza, or call (510) 238-3611 (voice) or (510) 839-6451
(TTY) to arrange for the following services: 1) Sign interpreters; 2) Phone ear hearing device for
the hearing impaired; 3) Large print, Bralille, or cassette tape text for the visually impaired The
City of Oakland complies with applicable City, State and Federal disability related laws and
regulations protecting the civil rights of persons with environmental illness/multiple chemical
sensitivities (EI/MCS). Auxiliary aids and services and alternative formats are available by calling
(510) 238-3716 at least 72 hours prior to this event.

Foreign language interpreters may be available from the Equal Access Office (510) 239-2368.
Contact them for availability. Please refrain from wearing strongly scented products to this
meeting.

Service Animals / Emotional Support Animals: The City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program
is committed to providing full access to qualified persons with disabilities who use services
animals or emotional support animals.

If your service animal lacks visual evidence that it is a service animal (presence of an apparel
item, apparatus, etc.), then please be prepared to reasonably establish that the animal does, in
fact, perform a function or task that you cannot otherwise perform.

If you will be accompanied by an emotional support animal, then you must provide documentation
on letterhead from a licensed mental health professional, not more than one year old, stating that
you have a mental health-related disability, that having the animal accompany you is necessary
to your mental health or treatment, and that you are under his or her professional care.

Service animals and emotional support animals must be trained to behave properly in public. An
animal that behaves in an unreasonably disruptive or aggressive manner (barks, growls, bites,
jumps, urinates or defecates, etc.) will be removed.



CITY OF OAKLAND
HOUSING, RESIDENTIAL RENT AND RELOCATION BOARD

Regular Meeting
August 10, 2017
7:00 p.m.
City Hall, Hearing Room #1
One Frank H. Ogawa Plaza, Oakland, CA

DRAFT MINUTES

1. CALL TO ORDER

The HRRRB was called to order at 7:25 p.m. by Board Chair, Jessie Warner.

Connie Taylor

3. CONSENT ITEMS

2. ROLL CALL
MEMBER STATUS PRESENT  ABSENT EXCUSED
Debbie Mesaros Tenant X
Terry Sandoval Tenant X
Karen Friedman Landlord X
Jessie Warner Homeowner X
Ramona Chang Landlord X
Robert Stone Homeowner X
Mary Jo Cook Homeowner X
Ubaldo Fernandez Tenant Alt X
Benjamin Scott ‘ X
Edward Lai Homeowner X
Staff Present
Kent Qian Deputy City Attorney
Luz Buitrago Deputy City Attorney

Rent Adjustment Program Manager

i.  Approval of Minutes for July13, 2017

R. Stone made a motion to approve the minutes as drafted. U. Fernandez seconded.
The Board voted as follows:

Aye: D. Mesaros, B. Scott, R. Stone, U. Fernandez, E. Lai

Nay: 0
Abstained: 0

N

0000

-y

i3



The motion was approved by consensus.
4. OPEN FORUM
James Vann
Steven Gingold
Jill Broadhurst
5. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
Deputy City attorney, Kent Qian, gave report on closed session.

6. NEW BUSINESS

i. Hearing of Appeal in related Cases:

a. T14-0238
b. T15-0428
c. T16-0257

Speakers on item 6 i:

Brian Geiser
Jill Broadhurst

Board Discussion

After Board discussion of two pages omitted from the Board packet, E. Lai made a
motion to continue the appeal hearing. R. Stone seconded. The Board voted as follows:

Ayes: D. Mesaros, R. Stone, U. Fernandez, B. Scott, E. Lai
Nay: 0
Abstain: 0

The motion was approved by consensus.

Case T14-0238

Appearances:
Tenant

Brian Geiser

000004



Property Owner Representative

Della Gutierrez
Rebuttal

Brian Geiser
Della Gutierrez

Board Discussion: Property Owner Appeal

After Board discussion and questions to all parties, U. Fernandez made a motion to
remand the decision to set the base rent at $900 at the time that the rent increase was
noticed. E. Lai seconded. The Board voted as follows:

Aye: R. Stone, U. Fernandez, E. Lai, B. Scott, D. Mesaros
Nay: 0
Abstained: 0

The motion was approved by consensus.

Board Discussion: Tenant Appeal

After Board discussion and questions to all parties, E. Lai made a motion to remand to
the Hearing Officer to reference Priority 1 and Priority 2 conditions in Appendix A at
Section 10.2.2 (4) (A). Hearing Officer to hold a hearing to allow establishing a priority
1 or priority 2 condition of the electrical system. U. Fernandez seconded. The Board
voted as follows:

Aye: R. Stone, U. Fernandez, E. Lai, B. Scott, D. Mesaros
Nay: 0
Abstained: 0

The motion was approved by consensus.
U. Fernandez made a motion to direct the Hearing Officer to reconcile the date on page
53 of the Board packet for effective date of rent increase. B. Scott seconded. The Board
voted as follows:
Aye: B. Scott, R. Stone, U. Fernandez, E. Lai, D. Mesaros
Nay: 0
Abstained: 0
B. T15-0428; Geiser v. Chandler Properties

Appearances: Property Owner Appeal

000005



Property Owner

Property owner representative had nothing to add (Della Gutierrez).
Board Break: 9:00 p.m.

ROLL CALL 9:10 p.m.

B. Scott

E. Lai

U. Fernandez

D. Mesaros

R. Stone

Tenant

Brian Geiser

Rebuttal

Della Gutierrez
Brian Geiser

Board Discussion

After questions to all parties, including a question to property owner, Mimi Johnson-
Jacobs, R. Stone made a motion to remand and set the base rent at $900 and to determine
the date the rent reduction commenced and expired. Friendly amendment offered by U.
Fernandez that the $18 decrease was to address decrease housing services. Friendly
amendment accepted. B. Scott seconded. The Board voted as follows:

Aye: B. Scott, U. Fernandez, R. Stone, D. Mesaros, E. Lai
Nay: 0
Abstained
The motion was approved by consensus.
c. T16-0257; Geiser v. Jacobs

Appearances: Owner/Tenant Appeal

Property Owner Representative

Della Gutierrez

000006



Tenant
Brian Geiser
Rebuttal

Della Gutierrez
Brian Geiser

Board Discussion

After Board discussion and questions to parties regarding the Business License, E. Lai
made a motion that the good faith efforts made by the Owner regarding the Business
License would suffice to satisfy the Ordinance requirements. R. Stone seconded. The
Board voted as follows:

Aye: R. Stone, E. Lai, B. Scott, D. Mesaros, U. Fernandez
Nay: 0
Abstained: 0

The motion was approved by consensus.

U. Fernandez made a motion to remand to 1) determine when the RAP notice was served;
and 2) if any banked increases should be disallowed before six months after notice was
first served. D. Mesaros seconded. The Board voted as follows:

Aye: R. Stone, E. Lai, B. Scott, D. Mesaros, U. Fernandez
Nay: 0
Abstained: 0

U. Fernandez made a motion to remand to include the intercom as an on-going decrease
in services. No seconded. Motion was withdrawn, substitute motion offered by U.
Fernandez: remand the decision to include the intercom as a decrease service until a new
cell phone is purchased. The Board voted as follows: ‘

Aye: D. Mesaros, U. Fernandez
Nay: B. Scott, R. Stone, E. Lai
Abstained: 0

The motion failed.

000007



E. Lai made a motion to remand to make the following changes on date stamp 138 of
Board packet, under “Rent Underpayments:” 1) 3 months to 2 months for $197.70
underpayment, and 2) change “reduced” to “increased.” U. Fernandez seconded. The
Board voted as follows:

Aye: R. Stone, E. Lai, U. Fernandez, D. Mesaros, B. Scott
Nay: 0
Abstained: 0

The motion passed by consensus.

R. Stone made a motion to remand to direct Hearing Officer to address each basis for
remand, to consolidate cases so that there is one clean case, make clear statements of fact,
and to cite evidence and provisions of the Ordinance that are relied upon. B. Scott
seconded. The Board voted as follows:

Aye: R. Stone, E. Lai, U. Fernandez, D. Mesaros, B. Scott

Nay: 0

Abstained: 0

The motion was passed by consensus.

8. ADJOURNMENT

E. Lai made motion to adjourn. R. Stone seconded. The meeting was adjourned by
consensus at 10.30 p.m.

000008 °



CHRONOLOGICAL CASE REPORT

Case No.:
Case Name:
Property Address:

Parties:

TENANT APPEAL:
Activity

Owner Petition filed
Tenant Response filed

Dates of Hearing:

Hearing Decision issued

Tenant Appeal filed

L.15-0065
CNML Crescent Props, LLC v. Tenants
480 Crescent Street, #204, Oakland, CA

Gary Reynolds (Tenant)
CNML Crescent Props, LLC (Landlord)

Date
October 29, 2015
December 14, 2015

March 8, 2016 &
January 6, 2017

March 29, 2017

April 13,2017

000009



g

CITY OF OAKLAND | W IAPR3 PH 2 4,
- RENT ADJUSTMENT PROGRAM

P.O. Box 70243

Oakland, CA 94612-0243

) ] (510) 238-3721 o
CITY OF OAKLAND APPEAL

Appellant’s Name

Gary Reynolds
Property Address (Include Unit Number)
480 Crescent Street #204 Oakland, CA 94610

[0 Owner M Tenant

Appellant’s Mailing Address (For receipt of notices) ' Case Number
Same as-above L15-0065 CNML Crescent Props. LL.C v Tenants

Date of Decision appealed
3/28/2017 :

Name of Representative (if any) Representative’s Mailing Address (For notices)

Please select your ground(s) for appeal from the list below. As part of the appeal, an explanation must
be provided responding to each ground for which you are appealing. Each ground for appeal listed
below includes directions as to what should be included in the explanation.

1) There are math/clerical errors that require the Hearing Decision to be updated. (Please clearly
explain the math/clerical errors.)

2) Appealing the decision for one of the grounds below (required):

a) [0 The decision is inconsistent with OMC Chapter 8.22, Rent Board Regulations or prior decisions
of the Board. (In your explanation, you must identify the Ordinance section, regulation or prior Board
decision(s) and describe how the description is inconsistent.).

b) [0 The decision is inconsistent with decisions issued by other Hearing Officers. (In your explanation,
you must identify the prior inconsistent decision and explain how the decision is inconsistent.)

¢)  [J The decision raises a new policy issue that has not been decided by the Board. (In your explanation,
you must provide a detailed statement of the issue and why the issue should be decided in your favor.).

d)  [1 The decision violates federal, state or local law. (In your explanation, you must provide a detailed
Statement as to what law is violated.)

€) L] The decision is not supported by substantial evidence. (In your explanation, you must explain why
the decision is not supported by substantial evidence found in the case record.)

For more information phone (510)-238-3721.

Rev. 2/14/17

000010



nH = I was denied a sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner’s claim. (In
Your explanation, you must describe how you were denied the chance to defend your claims and what
evidence you would have presented. Note that a hearing is not required in every case. Staff may issue a
decision without a hearing if sufficient facts to make the decision are not in dispute.)

g) 1 The decision denies the Owner a fair return on my investment. (You may appeal on this ground only
when your underlying petition was based on a fair retun claim. You must specifically state why you have been
denied a fair return and attach the calculations supporting your claim.)

h) Other. (In your explanation, you must attach a detailed explanation of your grounds for appeal.)

Submissions to the Board are limited to 25 pages from each party. Please number attached pages consecutively.
Number of pages attached: & , '

U must ¢ [ 1r_aAppea : : A DI
I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that on

April t 2 2017, I placed a copy of this form, and all attached pages, in the United States mail or
deposited it with a commercial carrier, using a service at least as expeditious as first class mail, with all
postage or charges fully prepaid, addressed to each opposing party as follows:

Name MICHAEL BYKHOVSKY - CNML Crescent Props. LLC
Address 2350 BROADWAY ST,
GhSaeZip | gAN FRANCISCO CA 94115

Lapham Co Property Management
Address 4844 Telegraph Ave.
“wlaleZis - Oakland, CA 94609

7 7
%iGNATURE i jPFELLAWESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVE DATE

For more information phone (510)-238-3721.

Rev. 2/14/17

000011



Gary Reynolds
480 Crescent Street, #204

Oakland, CA 94610
April 12, 2017

Department of Housing and Community Development

City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program — Appeal Department
P.O. Box 70243

Oakland, CA 94612-0243

Reference: Case Number L15-0065 CNML Crescent Props LLC v Tenants

Dear City of Oakland Rent Adjustment Program — Appeal Department,

I am writing in regards to the case listed above L15-0065 CNML Crescent Props LLC v Tenants
(Gary Reynolds) and would like to request an appeal based upon the fact, | was denied a
sufficient opportunity to present my claim or respond to the petitioner's claim; and the hearing
officer would not allow my evidence to be entered into the record which was filed on time and
should have been allowed to explain why | was adding the photos. | feel my photos would have
explained the many inconsistencies with the workmanship performed by non-professional
construction workers, they were day workers. | feel | was discriminated and asked that my
evidence be allowed to show just cause to why | feel the work done on the property was not of
the best quality and workmanship and we continue to experience problems in my unit even after
the fact.

The hearing officer allowed the petitioner to add additional evidence but said he would not allow
my evidence because he knows what an apartment building looks like but instead allowed a
photocopy a check in the amount of $122,560 payment: for project management to Mr.
Gallagher to increase the capital improvement cost. By allowing photocopy of a check not
knowing if the check was truly deposited into Mr. Gallagher's account and/or in fact was just a
copy of a check with Mr. Gallagher name on it and we know what a check look like. | am asking
that my evidence showing that this building has many problems be allowed. Note: Photos will be
added to this appeal showing all the problems with this building. ‘ ’

Appeals:
The petitioner request | pay a portion of the replacement invoice for dry rot repair in the amount
of $2,271.
* Is it not my responsibility as a tenant and should be the full responsibility of the owner of
said building. Why a tenant should have to be charged for natural causes of wear tear of
the building. The upkeep of a building should be the sole responsibility of said owner.

000012



Page 2

The petitioner request | pay a portion of the renovation of said kitchen and bathroom in the
amount of $30,500 and stove for $10,421. ‘ _

» There was nothing wrong with the kitchen when | request just a granite counter top. The
kitchen was in excellent condition and not damaged in any way. The owner had just put
in a new refrigerator and stove no less than six months prior the owner buying the
building. | came home one day the entire kitchen was gone without even considering my
wishes and | have to pay a portion of something forced upon with intention to use capital
improvement to help pay for it and raise my rent at the same time. | should not have to
pay for something | already had in the first place.

Also, the previous owner just replaced the tile in the bathroom at the same time due to a
water link in the tenant apartment above. He also replaces the vanity and the mirror and
the light. There was nothing wrong with my bathroom and again | was shocked they
ripped the entire bathroom. My bathroom shower window is so bad that water links onto
the walkway outside my window where people walk, and may eventually cause dry rot.

A Capital Improvements was pass through and granted for 209.05 and 89.56 for a period of 24
months. Raising my rent from $925.00 a month to $1,223.61 and many others double my
amount for this fake capital improvement only use to raise the rent of tenants eventually forcing
tenants to move in the end. _ :

e | ask that this case be dismissed based on the fact the hearing was doomed from the
beginning when the hearing officer forgot to record the session and requested tenants to
return redo the hearing again. To repeat the hearing again would cause hardship for
many tenants to when it should have be done correctly in the first place. Because of the
hearing officer mistake, | honestly feel it discriminated against tenants who could not
return to repeat the hearing again due to the hearing officer mistake. This alone left
many tenants what a waste of time only giving the petitioner an edge at the hearing
because many tenants present before could not return to the hearing due work and other
obligations. Again, this is a form of discriminated against tenants because they could
not return. At one point the petitioner tried to remove tenants that could not return and |
demanded that they remained on the list. Everything about this capital improvement is

FAKE and only being used as a way to increase the rent of tenants not paying market
value rent.

I'am asking this case be seriously look at and all the dishonesty trickery taking place and the
greed of owner/owners trying to make a big payoff due to the local trend taking place in
Oakland-Alameda County unlawful housing incensement. Please send a clear signal to owners
seeking a big payoff and deny this case for capital improvement.

Dated 12/27/2016 Received City of Oakland Rent Arbitration Program

cc: Michael Bykhovsky — CNML Crescent Props, LLC
Lapham Co. Property Management

000013



.n _f\L’"lVD | Lury /W
360 Oy ucgé
. /Q/Q?/i/lazgﬁc 27 PH w:yU ﬁw
| | | "
| @d‘*%\%ﬂ@mv)
Aty 0

' %6# [ /5 -toeS
L N e
W ] /0.'00 A7)

000014






;‘-5&;,« R
AT

ALY

: ;
froort it




i Pl
DRI S




1 ey ORI

iE.

Mriiyagg, R R N N

Y-wwvwygu -

:

B

e e
e

et i
NSO Ao



ikl

-




A

s g
BT
e

c
1)
o
<
L
c




nnnno1






i i
oAkt

e,
2
S

A

S
Yool

333
=5 el
s

I

7

7
ipapas

35 5EFFED
Y

[11
185
§

i

2y e R EAIRL

s

R
’-;ﬁ‘;s_‘: %




naonnoa

WO

S %



















i
i
i




4/13/2017

000031

g
<
o
on
<t
<t
S
3
<
—
o~
<
<
)
4
7}
o
et
Q
=
a
g
[\
=
=
<
&
@}
=
~
8
<
o
&
<
~
<
o~
B~
(@]
—
@)
=
vi
pon
[
172}
2

:/1C:

file




T
é‘w&u?

.Wmv%
aon

e




T

A

0
Lt 2
’\“‘."‘l‘ i’ 520

4/13/2017

006033 L

file:///C:/Users/C127247/AppData/Local/Temp/notes454471/~web4034 . htm




4/13/2017




P.O. BOX 70243, OAKLAND, CA 94612-2043

Department of Housing and Community Development

Rent Adjustment Program

CASE NUMBER:

PROPERTY ADDRESS:

DATES OF HEARING:
DATE OF DECISION:

APPEARANCES:!

HEARING DECISION

L15-0065, CNML Crescent Props. LLC v. Ténants

480 Crescent St., Oakland, CA
March 8, 2016 & January 6, 2017
March 28, 2017

Clifford E. Fried (Attorney for Owner)
Liz Hart (Owner Representative)
Michael Bykhovsky (Agent for Owner)
Martin Gallagher (Witness for Owner)
Tsegab Assefa (Witness for Owner)
Marla Bill (Tenant, Unit #105)
Angelita Garrison (Tenant, Unit #208)
Isabel B. DeCastro (Tenant, #304)
Chris Rhem (Tenant, Unit #104)

Doris Washington (Tenant, Unit #208)
Eddie Washington (Tenant, Unit #208)
Liz Derias (Tenant, Unit #302)

Gary Reynolds (Tenant, Unit #204)
Octavio Nevarez (Tenant, Unit #207)
Owen Smithyman (Tenant, Unit #107)

SUMMARY OF DECISION

The owner’s petition is partly granted.

CITY oF OAKLAND

TEL (510) 238-3721
FAX (510) 238-6181
TDD (510) 238-3254

! Clifford E. Fried, Marla Bill, Angelita Garrison, Isabel DeCastro, Liz Derias, & Octavio Nevarez appeared only
on March 8, 2016. Owen Smithyman appeared only on January 6, 2017.

080035



CONTENTIONS OF PARTIES

The owner filed a petition on October 29, 2015, seeking approval for a rent increase for the
subject rental units on the ground of Capital Improvements. The tenants listed above filed
responses to the owner’s petition.

THE ISSUES
Are rent increases justified by Capital Improvements and, if so, in what amounts?
EVIDENCE
At the Hearing, the parties agreed th.at the subject building contains 27 rental units.
Capital Improvement Costs — Pre-August 1, 2014: The owner submitted 198 pages of

documents. All of the following documents are dated prlor to August 1,2014.2 These
documents are categorized as follows:

Martin Gallagher Construction Inc. (Gallagher) — Common Area Work:

¢ An invoice for rebuilding exterior stairs and installation of a new structural steel
beam and posts in the amount of $34,581.50. Mr. Gallagher further testified that
he has been paid for this invoice, and all of his other invoices that were admitted
into evidence;

an invoice for completion of an exterior stairway in the amount of $3,625;"
invoices for installation of security gates in the total amount of $55,000;

an invoice for exterior painting in the amount of $48,000;°

an invoice for wood siding and stucco work in the amount of $60,000;’

an invoice for installation of a water heater in the amount of $8,300, dated January
27,2014;°

an invoice for construction in the laundry room in the amount of $7,000. ?

e an mvmg:e for construction of storage rooms in the amount of $5,200, dated April
3,2014.

? Exhibit Nos. 1A through 194 were admitted into evidence without objection. At the Hearing on January 6, 2017,
the tenants objected to the admission of Exhibit Nos. 195 through 197 — an invoice from and checks to Martin
Gallagher Construction — because these documents were not marked as exhibits at the Hearing on March 8, 2016.
However, these documents had been submitted 7 days before the original Hearing date, and the objection was
overruled and the documents were admitted into evidence.

* Exhibit Nos. 2 & 3

* Exhibit Nos. 4 & 5

* Exhibit Nos. 6,7, & 15

% Exhibit Nos. 8 & 9

7 Exhibit Nos. 10 & 11 -

8 Exhibit No. 12. Although no specific proof of payment was submltted for this item, there are a number of checks
in various amounts that far exceed the amounts of individual invoices.

? Bxhibit Nos. 13 & 14

1% Exhibit No. 16

000036



e aninvoice for concrete installation in the driveway in the amount of $4,625 .1

e an invoice for repair of a leaking pipe and associated work in the amount of
$450."

e an invoice for repair of dry rot, installation of GFCI outlets and driveway work, in
the total amount of $30, 375.1* At the Hearing, Mr. Gallagher testified that when
he removed old windows, he discovered dry rot, which needed to be repaired.

Unit Specific Work:

Unit # 101: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows in the amount of $3,6OO.14
Raynard’s Appliance Repairs (Raynard’s) — an invoice for inspection and minor repair of a
refrigerator in the amount of $297."> APT Maintenance (APT) — an invoice for patching around a
new heater in the amount of $247.'¢

Unit # 102: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows in the amount of $3,600."7

Unit # 103: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200;18 an
invoice for dry rot repair in the amount of $2,271 ;19 an invoice for kitchen replacement in the
amount of $10,600;2 an invoice for a new window required by the City in the amount of
$1,800;! and an invoice for bathroom remodeling in the amount of $9,200.%

Unit # 104: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200% and
an invoice for dry rot repair in the amount of $2,271 -24 and an invoice for a new window
required by the City in the amount of $1,800.%°

Unit # 105: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows and one door in the amount
of 5}38,600;26 an invoice for kitchen replacement in the amount of 5}510,600;27 an invoice for a new
window required by the City in the amount of $1,800;% and an invoice for bathroom remodeling
in the amount of $9,200.% »

" Exhibit Nos. 17 & 18

12 Exhibit Nos. 19 & 20

13 Exhibit Nos. 19 & 20

 Exhibit Nos. 22 & 51

13 Exhibit No. 175

' Exhibit No. 106

17 Exhibit Nos. 23 & 52

18 Exhibit Nos. 24 & 53

1% Exhibit No. 82

2 Exhibit No. 86

2! Exhibit No. 89. At the Hearing, Mr. Gallagher testified that the City required new windows in many units where
prior window openings were not large enough to allow access by a firefighter who is carrying necessary equipment.
“? Exhibit No. 90

# Exhibit Nos. 25 & 54

% Exhibit No. 82

25 Exhibit No. 89.

% Exhibit Nos. 26 & 55

7 Exhibit No. 86

2 Exhibit No. 89.

¥ Exhibit No. 90

n0003%



Unit # 106: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of one window and one door in the amount
of $5,600;%° and an invoice for a new stove in the amount of $950.%"!

Unit # 107: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows and one door in the amount
of $6,800.%

Unit # 108: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $8,600.33

Gallagher: Five refund checks for $700 each paid to Lapham Company, the owner’s
property manager.34

Unit # 109: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 3 windows in the amount of $6,800.%

Unit # 201: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows in the amount of $2,600.%¢
APT — an invoice for patching around a new heater in the amount of $247.%

Unit # 202: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows in the amount of $2,600.%%

Unit # 203: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200;* an
invoice for dry rot repair in the amount of $2,271 :%% and an invoice for the additional cost of 4
windows in the amount of $1,600.*' Oak Leaf Painting & Maintenance (Oak Leaf) — an invoice
for “surface repair as required . . . cabinet refinishing . . . and painting of surfaces as required” in
the amount of $755.*> At the Hearing, Mr. Gallagher testified that all work by Oak Leaf in
individual units was done in anticipation of a new tenancy. The extent of such work depends
upon the condition of the apartment.

Unit # 204: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200;43 an

invoice for dry rot repair in the amount of $2,271;* and an invoice for a new stove in the amount
of $950.%

3% Exhibit Nos. 27, 56 & 121
31 Exhibit No. 88

32 Exhibit Nos. 28 & 57

33 Exhibit Nos. 29 & 61

34 Exhibit Nos. 30, 32, 59, 62 & 78
3% Exhibit Nos. 31 & 58

36 Exhibit Nos. 33 & 63

37 Exhibit No. 107 -

38 Exhibit Nos. 34 & 64

%% Exhibit Nos. 35 & 65

% Exhibit No. 82

1 Exhibit No. 127

%2 Exhibit No. 97

3 Exhibit Nos. 36 & 66

44 Exhibit No. 82

*5 Exhibit No. 87




Unit # 205: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 3 windows and one door in the amount

of $8,600.% Raynard’s Appliance Repairs (Raynard’s) — an invoice for a new heater in the
amount of $1,269.*7

Unit # 206: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of one window and one door in the amount
of $5,OOO;48 and an invoice for kitchen replacement in the amount of $10,600.

Unit # 207: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows and one door in the amount
of $6,800.%°

Unit # 208: Géllagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200.°!
Unit # 209: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 3 windows in the amount of $5,400.>*

Unit # 301: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 5 windows; demolition; installation of
floor & wall tiles; carpeting; doors and trim; baseboards, shelves & poles; kitchen appliances;
kitchen cabinets and countertops, in the amount of $44,000%; and a new window required by the

City in t?se amount of $1,800.* APT — an invoice for patching around a new heater in the amount
of $247,

Unit # 302: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 3 windows, in the amount of $5,40O;56
and an invoice for a new window required by the City, in the amount of $1,800.>” Oak Leaf —an’
invoice for “surface repair as required . . . cabinet refinishing . . . and painting of surfaces as

‘required” in the amount of $1,161.°

Unit # 303: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $3,600;>
and an invoice for a new window required by the City in the amount of $1,800.

Unit # 304: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200;%
and an invoice for a new window required by the City in the amount of $1 ,800.52

“6 Exhibit Nos. 37 & 67. At the Hearing, Mr. Gallagher testified that the invoice contains a clerical error, and that
the door listed on this invoice was for Unit No. 205, not Unit 204.
7 Exhibit No. 102
8 Exhibit Nos. 38 & 68.
9 Exhibit No. 86
3% Exhibit Nos. 39 & 69.
3! Exhibit Nos. 40 & 70
52 Exhibit Nos. 41 & 71
53 Exhibit No. 92
>* Exhibit No. 89.
5% Exhibit No. 108
% Bxhibit Nos. 42 & 72
57 Exhibit No. 89.
5% Exhibit No. 98
5% Exhibit Nos. 43 & 73
% Exhibit No. 89.
¢! Exhibit Nos. 44 & 74
“62 Exhibit No. 89.




Unit # 305: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 3 windows and one door in November
2013, in the amount of $8,600.%

Unit # 306: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows in the amount of $5,000.%
Raynard’s — Cleaning and minor repairs of a wall heater in the amount of $633 5

Unit # 307: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 2 windows and one door in the amount
of $5,600.% -

Unit # 308: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 4 windows in the amount of $7,200.57

Raynar(g;s Appliance Repairs (Raynard’s) — an invoice for a new heater in the amount of
$1,583.

Unit # 401: Gallagher — invoices for the cost of 7 windows and one door, in the amount
of $1 5,800;69 an invoice for dry rot repair, in the amount of $4.455;7 an invoice for replacement
of a fence on the roof, in the amount of $2,200;”! and an invoice for re-sloping the roof landing
and installation of a top step, in the amount of $1,1 00;" and an invoice for a new window
required by the City in the amount of $1,800.

Oak Leaf Painting & Maintenance: A check to Oakleaf in the amount of $34,521 7

APT Maintenance: A check to APT Maintenance in the amount of $30,536.75

Lapham Company: Checks to Martin Gallagher Construction dated November 14, 2013
through June 16, 2014, in the amounts of $84,800 (11/14/13), $24,400 (12/10/13), $90,200
(12/10/13), $33,466 (1/16/14), $114,500 (1/30/14), $116,103 (4/15/14), $30,825;% and checks to
Raynard’s dated December 19, 2013 through February 11, 2014, in the amounts of $9,035
(12/19/13),” $1,975 (1/27/14),"® & $6,996 (2/11/14).”

/
/

6 Exhibit Nos. 45 & 75
¢ Exhibit Nos. 46 & 76
% Exhibit No. 104

% Exhibit Nos. 47 & 77
%7 Exhibit Nos. 48 & 79
% Exhibit No. 100

% Exhibit Nos. 49 & 80
" Exhibit No. 82

I Exhibit No. 83

™ Exhibit No. 84

” Exhibit No. 89.

™ Exhibit No. 99

5 Exhibit No. 109

78 Exhibit Nos. 50, 60, 81, 85, 91, 93, 95
" Exhibit No. 101

8 Exhibit No. 103

™ Exhibit No. 105

000040



Capital Improvement Costs — Post-August 1, 2014:

Gallagher — Common Area Work: An invoice to “clean up all units and remove debris” in
November 2014, in the amount of $4,358;% an invoice for “toilet service” (port-a-potty) and
debris removal in January 2015, in the amount of $1,281;* and an invoice for “one year
completion Project Management Payout” dated November 1, 2014, in the amount of $122,560.%
At the Hearing, Mr. Gallagher testified that the project took one and one-half years, during which
time he supervised the work of 10 employees. This invoice was for compensation for his time in
doing so.

Unit # 101: Gallagher — an invoice for 2 windows in the amount of $800.%* Raynard’s —
an invoice for inspection and disposal of a refrigerator in the amount of $297.** APD —an
invoice for a new refrigerator in the amount of $567.%°

Unit # 102: Gallagher — an invoice for 2 windows in the amount of $800;%¢ and an invoice
for installation of new bamboo flooring in the amount of $3,173.%

Unit # 103: Gallagher — an invoice for 4 windows in the amount of $1,600.*®
Unit # 104: Gallagher — an invoice for 4 windows in the amount of $1,600.%
Unit # 105: Gallagher — an invoice for 3 windows and a door in the amount of $1,4OO.90

Unit # 106: Gallagher — an invoice for a window and a door in the am